1964

# Phillip Roy Smith v. Ignacio Theodore Gallegos et al : Brief of Appellants

Utah Supreme Court

STATEMENT OF THE KIND OF CASE

This action arose out of an accident involving two truck-trailer units which occurred at the intersection of 3500 South Street and Redwood Road in Salt Lake City, Utah.

DISPOSITION IN LOWER COURT

A brief history of this law suit will be helpful.

One Phillip Roy Smith, a passenger in one of the units involved in the accident, commenced the action

for personal injuries. Named as defendants in the law suit were William Jewel Jones, the owner and operator of the unit in which Smith was a passenger; Wasatch Construction Company, owner of the other unit involved in the accident; and Ignacio Theodore Gallegos, the employee of Wasatch Construction Company who was driving the unit. Later Smith amended his Complaint joining Milwhite Mud Sales as a defendant. This defendant had an agreement with William Jewel Jones, the truck owner and operator, concerning the carriage of freight which was on the unit at the time of the accident. Agency was claimed by plaintiff Smith. Each of the defendants was alleged to have negligently or willfully caused Smith's injuries.

Each defendant appeared and answered. Defendants Gallegos and Wasatch Construction Company (appellants herein) cross-claimed against Jones and Milwhite Mud Sales alleging negligence causing damage to the unit and personal injuries to Gallegos.

Defendant William Jewel Jones cross-claimed against Gallegos and Wasatch Construction Company for personal injuries and property damage.

Before the case reached trial, the claim of plaintiff Smith was settled. Defendants William Jewel Jones, Wasatch Construction Company, Theodore Gallegos, and Milwhite Mud Sales each contributed to the settlement. This left remaining the cross-claims of defendants Theodore Gallegos and Wasatch Construction Company against Jones and his cross-claim against them. The issues between these parties were tried to a jury. A verdict in favor of Jones resulted.

## RELIEF SOUGHT ON APPEAL

Appellants Theodore Gallegos and Wasatch Construction Company seek judgment in their favor as a matter of law on the cross-claim of William Jewel Jones or, that failing, a new trial.

## STATEMENT OF FACTS

At the outset, appellants refer the Court to Exhibit 9, a diagram of the roadway and intersection of 3500 South and Redwood Road in Salt Lake City, Utah. For convenience, this Exhibit has been reproduced in this Brief. The accident in question happened on September 7, 1961 between 8:00 and 8:30 P.M. (R. 291). It was dark, the road was dry, the weather was clear, and visibility good (R. 318). The unit operated by Theodore Gallegos was northbound on Redwood Road. The unit owned and operated by William Jewel Jones was southbound on Redwood Road, turning left intending to proceed east on 3500 South.

At the time of this accident, Redwood Road north of 3500 South consisted of four lanes for moving traffic plus a left-turn lane (Exhibit 9). South of 3500 South at the entrance to the intersection, Redwood Road between curb lines is approximately 60 feet in width. It is sufficiently wide to permit the movement of four cars abreast. At the point marked "stop line" on Exhibit 9, the roadway from the dotted line which delineates the curb line (R. 250) to the center line of the roadway is a distance of 30 feet (Exhibit 9 is scaled 1 inch equals 1 foot). Following the curb line back south on the intersection, we note that the northbound lane tapers some-

what and the width of the lane at the edge of Exhibit 9 is approximately 17-1/2 feet. The tapering of the roadway can also be seen visually by reference to Exhibit 13 which is an aerial photograph of the intersection. Exhibit 13 accurately depicts the roadway at the time of the accident with the exception of the moving objects shown thereon and there has been added markings describing the left-turn lane (R. 273 and 274).

Deputy Sheriff Darrell Brady testified as the first witness. He arrived at the scene of the accident about 8:30 P.M. and there conducted an investigation. He found the point of impact between the two units to be about 28 feet 6 inches of the survey monument in the center of the intersection (R. 219). This point was also tied to a water meter cover and a light pole. These marks together with the positions of the units after the impact are shown on Ex. 9.

He did not testify as to the statements made by the driver, Theodore Gallegos, but he did testify as to statements made by William Jewel Jones. We quote from the Record at Page 261:

“Q. Now will you tell the Court what Mr. Jones told you about what happened in the accident?

“A. I believe he told me that he had just come through the intersection of — now he wasn’t familiar with it but I believe he was referring to 2100 South on Redwood Road which at that time still had a semaphore regulating traffic for left turn and through traffic for all directions. And that while he was at the



intersection of 35th and Redwood Road when the light turned green he thought it was a left turn light for him to go ahead."

The Deputy Sheriff also obtained a signed statement from Mr. Jones which was later introduced into evidence as Ex. 23. This statement reads as follows:

"I, William J. Jones was driving my truck south on Redwood Road when I stopped at 33rd South and waited for the light to turn green in the center lane for a left turn and when the light turned green in the center lane for left turns when the two cars that were in front of me turned left, I turned left also as all of the lights were still red except the center ones and all of the cars meeting me were still stopped when this gravel truck came out around them on the extreme outside lane at a very high rate of speed and hit my truck in the right-hand side near the door and Phillip Smith who was riding with me was thrown out that side when the door was thrown open and that's just about all that happened.

William J. Jones

P. O. Box 1169

Moab, Utah"

Contrary to Mr. Jones' belief as to the existence of a signal light controlling left-turning vehicles, the officer testified that at the time of the collision the intersection was controlled only by a single semaphore which alternately exhibited green, yellow and red signals on each of its four sides. There was no separate signal controlling left turns (R. 279).

Additionally the officer testified that the point of impact on the Jones unit was the right front fender and



door (R. 271), and on the left front corner of the Wasatch Construction Company unit (R. 281).

Both drivers testified as to the happening of the accident.

Mr. Gallegos testified that he lived in Kearns, Utah and was employed by Wasatch Construction Company. On the evening in question he was hauling dirt from 6000 South and 4000 West in Salt Lake County to the Rose Park area in the northwest section of the city (R. 304). His shift on this day was from 5:00 P.M. to 2:00 A.M. in the morning. He had made one complete trip prior to the accident (R. 305). Mr. Gallegos entered Redwood Road at 5400 South and proceeded at a speed of 30 to 40 m.p.h. north on Redwood Road to the intersection where the accident happened (R. 306). (The posted speed limit south of the intersection is 40 m.p.h. (R. 204).) As he proceeded north on Redwood Road, he was following a Pontiac automobile. As that automobile approached the intersection, it pulled close to the center line to make a left turn. He testified that there were no other vehicles ahead of the Pontiac as they approached the intersection (R. 306). The semaphore was red against him as he approached the intersection, but it changed to green when his unit was 200 to 250 feet south of the intersection. At a distance of approximately 150 feet from the intersection, Mr. Gallegos first observed the unit of Mr. Jones. At that time it was moving slowly into the left-turn lane to turn left (R. 307-308). As the Jones unit turned left across the path of the Gallegos unit, Mr. Gallegos stepped on his brakes, turned

to the right, and sounded the horn, but there was not sufficient time or distance to avoid the resulting collision (R. 308).

Mr. William Jones, driver of the other unit, testified that he was a resident of Moab, Utah. He had delivered a load of furniture to Sunset, Utah from southern Utah the day before the accident and on the day of the accident had picked up a 25-ton load of bentonite or drilling mud. He was southbound on Redwood Road and as he approached the intersection of 3500 South, he pulled over into the left-turn lane and commenced signaling with the mechanical signal light on the truck. There was no traffic in the left-turn lane ahead of him (R. 335). He testified that as he approached the intersection, the traffic light was red against him. He said that there was other traffic in the area and that there were cars northbound on Redwood Road that were stopped.

He then testified that when the light changed to green, the vehicle across from him in the northbound lane started to turn left, everything looked clear for him, so he started to make his left-hand turn. He then glanced back in his rear-view mirror to check his trailer to make sure it was clearing the island in the center of the road and at that time he was pretty well into his left turn. When he looked back to the south, he then first observed the lights of the unit operated by Mr. Gallegos. He only had time to hit his brakes and turn the steering wheel when the collision occurred (R. 337). At the time of the accident, he had attained a speed of between 5 and 10 m.p.h. (R. 338). The other unit was very close to his unit

when he first observed it and not over 30 feet away (R. 342).

Several independent witnesses testified. Mr. Gene Matthews was stopped on the west side of 3500 South in response to a red light. There was one vehicle ahead of him. The driver of this vehicle appeared to be intending to turn right to go south on Redwood Road. Mr. Matthews observed the Jones unit in the left-turn lane either stopped or proceeding very slowly into a left turn (R. 290). He observed the unit driven by Gallegos just before the accident. He estimated the speed at approximately 25 to 30 m.p.h. and observed this unit turn to the right just before the impact (R. 292-293).

Marcus Richardson testified that his car was stopped on the east side of 3500 South headed west. There were no cars ahead of him (R. 317). As he approached the intersection, the light turned yellow and he stopped at the pedestrian lane in response to the red light (R. 318). He observed the Jones unit in the southbound left-turn lane stopped. He could not tell whether the left-turn signals were operating (R. 318). He heard an air horn and his attention was directed to the south at which time he observed the Gallegos unit approximately 175 to 200 feet south of the intersection. At this time, he observed four northbound vehicles parked along the line next to the center waiting for a left turn (R. 322). He observed the Gallegos unit pass these vehicles to the right and estimated the speed of the truck at that time at 40 to 45 m.p.h. When he looked back, the Jones unit was into its left turn (R. 323). The accident happened immediately thereafter.

The argument following will be directed to the proposition that the Court committed reversible error in failing to direct a verdict in their favor as to the negligence of William Jewel Jones.

## ARGUMENT

### POINT I.

THE LOWER COURT COMMITTED REVERSIBLE ERROR IN FAILING TO DIRECT A VERDICT AGAINST WILLIAM JEWEL JONES.

At the conclusion of all the evidence, appellants moved the Court to direct a verdict against William Jewel Jones and submit to the jury only the question of appellants' negligence. The motion was denied (R. 364). The Court should have directed a verdict in accordance with the motion and its failure so to do was reversible error.

Specifically Respondent was guilty of negligence as a matter of law in two respects, namely: Failure to yield the right of way and improper lookout. Appellants will discuss these two items separately.

#### *A. Failure to Yield Right of Way*

We look first to the statute of this state governing left-turning vehicles. The statute is 41-6-73 UCA 1953 and reads:

"The driver of a vehicle within an intersection intending to turn left shall yield the right of way to any vehicle approaching from the opposite direction which is within the intersection or so close thereto as to constitute an immediate hazard, during the time when such driver is moving within the intersection.

The above section of the Code was enacted by the

legislature and was the law of this state in 1961, prior to the accident in question. The enactment of the above section was a substantial and material change from the prior statute regulating left-turning vehicles. The former 41-6-73 UCA 1953 read as follows:

“The driver of a vehicle within an intersection intending to turn to the left shall yield the right of way to any vehicle approaching from the opposite direction which is within the intersection or so close thereto as to constitute an immediate hazard, but said driver, having so yielded and having given a signal when and as required by this act, may make such left turn and the drivers of all other vehicles approaching the intersection from said opposite direction shall yield the right of way to the vehicle making the left turn.”

The change in statute has broadened the responsibility of the left-turning driver and has placed upon him the duty to yield the right of way to any approaching vehicle that would constitute a hazard at any time the left-turning vehicle is in the intersection. The prior law provided only that the left-turning vehicle must yield to any vehicle that was an immediate hazard at the time the left-turning vehicle commenced his turn.

The factual inquiry that now must be made in a case of this kind is whether the approaching vehicle was a hazard during any part of the period of time that the left-turning vehicle would have been within the intersection. The evidence in this case will conclusively show that the Wasatch Construction unit was a hazard to the Jones unit while it was moving in the intersection.

The Court is referred to Exhibit 9. This map de-



lineates the intersection of 3500 South and Redwood Road in Salt Lake County and is drawn to scale. Depicted on the Exhibit are the curb lines or lateral boundary lines of the roadway and these are marked by a curved dotted line. As defined by statute, an intersection is:

“The area embraced within the prolongation or connection of the lateral curb lines or, if none, then the lateral boundary lines of the roadways of the two highways which join one another at, or approximately at, right angles, or the area within which vehicles travelling upon different highways join at any other angle, come in conflict.” 41-6-8 UCA 1953

Drawing an imaginary line representing the prolongation of the roadways at the intersection and scaling the distance, we note that a left-turn vehicle must traverse a curve in excess of 60 feet in length in order to clear the intersection. To this distance must be added the length of the vehicle. This is most important in this case because Mr. Jones was operating a heavily loaded truck-trailer unit. These vehicles as is commonly known vary from 35 to 55 feet in length. To clear this particular intersection then, the Jones unit would necessarily have to travel a curve of a minimum distance of 95 feet in order to clear the intersection. This minimum figure is arrived at by adding the minimum length of the unit to the minimum distance on the ground. In other words, from the moment the front of the unit enters the intersection till the end of the trailer leaves it, a minimum distance of 95 feet is involved.

Coupled with the distances involved is the time

that it takes for a vehicle to travel this distance and this factor is dependent upon its speed. In this case Mr. Jones testified as to the speed of his vehicle:

“Q. Will you tell us what your speed was as you proceeded in your turn and at the time of the accident?

A. Somewheres between 5 and 10 miles an hour.”  
(R. 338)

At 5 miles per hour a vehicle will travel 7.3 feet per second and at 10 miles per hour a vehicle will travel 14.66 feet per second. It will be noted that it would take approximately 6.4 seconds for the Jones unit to clear the intersection at 10 miles per hour and 12.9 seconds at 5 miles per hour. It may be reasoned that by his own estimate of speed as being “somewheres between 5 and 10 miles an hour” it would have taken him approximately 9 seconds to clear the intersection. This time is something he should have anticipated when he commenced his left turn. The posted speed limit at this intersection is 40 m.p.h. (R. 204). A vehicle approaching the intersection at that speed would be travelling approximately 58 feet per second. During the approximate nine-second interval required by the Jones unit to clear the intersection, an approaching vehicle travelling 40 miles an hour would cover approximately 500 feet. It may, therefore, be concluded that at the time the Jones unit started its turn any approaching vehicle within 500 feet of the intersection would constitute a potential hazard.

Now let us look at the event of this accident with particular regard to the time, speed and distances involved.



Again we refer to Exhibit 9 and scale off the distance between the entrance to the intersection and the actual point on the roadway where the two trucks collided. We find this to be approximately 45 feet on a straight line. In this case nothing would be added to this distance for the length of the vehicle because the point of impact on the Jones unit was the right front (Ex. 11 —photograph). Considering the speed of the Jones unit at between 5 and 10 miles per hour, it would have taken that unit between three and a half to 7 seconds to travel the distance from the entrance to the intersection to the point of impact 50 feet away. Assuming that the Jones unit was traveling 10 miles per hour, any approaching vehicle traveling 40 m.p.h. would have collided with the Jones unit if the approaching vehicle were within approximately 400 feet of the point of impact travelling at a speed of 40 m.p.h.

These figures furthermore did not show the mere possibility of a collision as the Jones unit was almost clear of the intersection. These figures show a collision occurring at almost the first possible moment that such collision could occur. That is, at the moment the front of the Jones vehicle had only just entered the lane of traffic occupied by the Wasatch Construction unit.

We now refer to the testimony of Mr. Marcus F. Richardson. He was stopped waiting for a red light on the east side of 3500 South facing west. He could observe both the Jones unit commencing its left turn and the approaching Wasatch Construction Company unit. Called as a witness by Mr. Jones he testified that he

observed the Wasatch Construction unit approximately 175 to 200 feet south of the intersection (R. 318) and that he estimated the speed of the vehicle at that time at 40 to 45 m.p.h. At that moment the Jones unit had commenced its left turn. Mr. Richardson knew there was going to be an accident and testified, "I told my wife there was going to be an accident . . ." (R. 319). This witness shows that at the time the Jones vehicle commenced its left turn, the Wasatch Construction unit was only 175 to 200 feet from the intersection travelling at a rate of 40 to 45 m.p.h. The mathematics applicable to the testimony of this witness shows that the Wasatch Construction unit would enter the intersection within  $3\frac{1}{2}$  seconds. It is abundantly clear that this unit was an immediate hazard to Respondent Jones requiring him to yield the right of way. It is also apparent that it is not conceivable that reasonable minds could disagree. The lower court, therefore, should have directed a verdict against Mr. Jones on this point alone.

We turn now to the law. As noted above, the legislature has made a significant change in the statute governing left turns. The legislature has "tightened up" the law in this regard and placed a greater duty on the left-turning motorist. That motorist is now and was at the time of this accident required to yield the right of way to any vehicle approaching from the opposite direction which is so close as to constitute an immediate hazard during any time that the left-turning driver is moving within the intersection. To the best knowledge of appellants this statute has not been before this Court

for judicial interpretation. However, it is apparent from reading the statute that the change is of such magnitude to make the cases interpreting the earlier statute no longer sufficient authority. The law must be restated in terms of the new statute. Appellants contend that a statement from WALKER VS. PETERSON, 3 Utah 2d 354, 278 P. 2d 291 is pertinent in this regard. This Court said:

“The driver going straight through the intersection does have the right of way. This means that where the circumstances are such that if the two continued their course, there would be danger of collision, the left turner must give way.”

The statute means that if in any accident involving a left turner it can reasonably be said that the approaching vehicle would be a danger if the two vehicles continued on their course, then the left turning driver is guilty of failing to yield the right of way barring his recovery as a matter of law. For cases concerning the early statute, see CEDERLOF VS. WHITED, 110 Utah 45, 169 P. 2d 777; FRENCH VS. UTAH OIL REFINING COMPANY, 117 Utah 406, 216 P. 2d 1002; YEATES VS. BUDGE, 122 Utah 517, 252 P. 2d 220.

#### B. FAILURE TO MAINTAIN A PROPER LOOKOUT.

Closely coupled with respondent's failure to yield the right of way is his failure to maintain a proper lookout. His testimony in this regard is most illuminating. He gives his version of the events immediately before the accident in the following manner:

“A. Well, when the light changed to green the

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