1965

# Phillip Roy Smith v. Ignacio Theodore Gallegos et al : Brief of Respondents

Utah Supreme Court

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

## ARGUMENT

## POINT I

THE TRIAL COURT DID NOT COMMIT ERROR IN FAILING TO DIRECT A VERDICT AGAINST RESPONDENT.

The appellants' sole contention on appeal is that the trial court erred in not ruling that the respondent was contributorily negligent as a matter of law. The trial court denied the appellants' request for such a ruling and submitted the issue of the negligence of appellants and respondent to the jury.

In *Coombs v. Perry*, 2 Utah 2d 381, 275 P.2d 680 (1954), this Court observed with reference to the rule regarding its review of a trial court's decision to submit a matter of fact to the jury's determination, and the subsequent verdict:

"The basis of defendant's appeal is that the evidence so conclusively supports his views as to these two points that the court was required to so rule as a matter of law and should not have submitted the matter to the jury. The plaintiff having won a judgment below, the verdict is protected by a bulwark of rules firmly established in our law. First, by the general proposition that the judgment and proceedings in the lower court are presumptively correct with the burden upon defendant to show error. Second, where a trial judge has passed upon a question and a jury, presumably fair and impartial, has made a finding, while such is not controlling, it is at least entitled to some consideration and should not be wholly ignored in reviewing the situation and attempting to see, as objectively as possible, whether reasonable minds might so conclude. Third, that the court must review the evidence, together with every inference fairly arising therefrom, in the light most favorable to the plaintiff, and similarly, must consider any lack or failure of evidence in the same light, which we do in reviewing the facts here."

It has long been the rule in this state that a decision of a trial court in refusing to rule that a party was negligent as a matter of law will not be disturbed on appeal, unless, under the facts taken in a light most favorable to the trial court's determination, it appears no reasonable man could but conclude otherwise. *Jensen v. Dolen*, 12 Utah 2d 404, 367 P.2d 191 (1962) ; *Mulbach v. Hertig*, 15 Utah 2d 121, 388 P.2d 414 (1964) ; *Toomer's Estate v. Union Pacific R.R. Co.*, 121 Utah 37, 239 P.2d 163.

It is submitted that when the evidence is viewed in light of the above rules it is manifestly clear that the trial court's decision and the verdict of the jury are not contrary to law.

The appellants contend that in two ways the evidence as a matter of law demands a finding of the respondent's negligence. First, it is contended the respondent was negligent as a matter of law in failing to yield the right of way. Second, it is contended the respondent failed to keep a proper lookout.

As to the appellants' contention that respondent was negligent in failing to yield the right of way reliance is placed on 41-6-73, U.C.A., 1953 (Laws of Utah 1961, Ch. 86, § 1). This statute provides:

“The driver of a vehicle within an intersection intending to turn to the left shall yield the right of way to any vehicle approaching from the opposite direction which is within the intersection or so close thereto as to constitute an immediate hazard, during the time when such driver is moving within the intersection.”

It is submitted this provision makes very little change over the previous provision. A vehicle making a left turn need only yield the right of way to an approaching vehicle if (1) the approaching vehicle has entered the intersection

or (2) is so close as to constitute an immediate hazard. In *Kronish v. Provasoli*, 179 A.2d 823 (Conn., 1962), the Connecticut Supreme Court stated with reference to the same statute and in holding the plaintiff who was making a left turn not to have been contributorily negligent as a matter of law:

“If, however, the defendant’s approaching car was neither within the intersection nor so close thereto as to constitute an immediate hazard, and the plaintiff’s car was within the intersection, the plaintiff would have the right of way to make a left turn . . .”

The facts in the instant case when viewed in a light most favorable to the jury’s verdict show that the question of negligence was properly a question for the triers of fact.

The respondent approached the intersection at Redwood Road and 3500 South from the north. He stopped his vehicle at the red light and was in the far left hand collection lane. He had his left turn signals in operation (R. 333) as well as his lights on (R. 334). As the light changed, according to Jones, “I checked and everything was clear as far as I could see” (R. 336). He started his left turn. According to Mr. Marcus Richardson, “Mr. Jones’ vehicle had started his left turn because there was no other traffic on the outside lane going north” (R. 319). Even the appellants’ own witness, Mr. Gene Matthews, testified that the intersection appeared clear, and the appellant’s vehicle picked up speed like it was trying to clear the intersection before the light changed (R. 290). According to Jones, when he entered the intersection, the only vehicles were those directly south lined up to make left turns west onto 3500 South. This was corroborated by the other witnesses. Further, the point of impact on the diagram shows that the

Jones vehicle was well across both opposite lanes of traffic and that the collision occurred almost on a line with the edge of the road of the southeast side of Redwood Road. The appellant Gallegos' testimony was that when the light at the intersection turned from red to green he was some 200 to 250 feet from the intersection (R. 307). This was the time Jones said he started to make his turn. Gallegos was 150 feet from the intersection when he observed the respondent who was making a left turn (R. 308). Clearly, therefore, the evidence supports a view that at the time the respondent started to make his left turn, the intersection was free of any vehicle that could be called an "immediate hazard." Further, according to both Mr. Matthews and Mr. Marcus Richardson, the appellant Gallegos seemed to accelerate into the intersection under power. Mr. Richardson testified that the appellant's vehicle was in the left hand lane behind several cars, and that it pulled out behind the cars to the right, was under full power, 40 to 45 m.p.h., bearing down on the intersection. The jury could well conclude that Jones entered the intersection without there being any immediate hazard but because the appellant pulled into another lane, passed vehicles and approached at a high rate of speed, the sole negligence and proximate cause of the accident was the appellant's.

It is well settled that a motorist who enters an intersection to make a left turn prior to another vehicle and under circumstances that do not manifest an immediate hazard has the right of way and subsequent approaching vehicles must yield. *Martin v. Stevens*, 121 Utah 484, 243 P.2d 747 (1952); *Kronish v. Provasoli*, 179 A.2d 823 (Conn., 1962); *Bates v. Burns*, 3 Utah 2d 180, 281 P.2d 209 (1955). In the latter case, this Court observed:

“Plaintiff not only entered the intersection first, he had nearly passed over it before defendant entered. Plaintiff was the disfavored driver until he had entered the intersection at a time when no car traveling the through highway had entered the intersection or was approaching so closely on said through highway as to constitute an immediate hazard. But having entered as authorized, he became the favored driver and all other vehicles approaching the intersection on said through highway were obliged to yield the right of way to him.”

In *Richards v. Anderson*, 9 Utah 2d 17, 337 P.2d 59 (1959), this Court observed:

“It is clear that the defendant entered the intersection considerably ahead of the plaintiff. The question then becomes whether plaintiff’s automobile was so close to the intersection to constitute an ‘immediate hazard’ to defendant when the latter entered the intersection. There is, of course, no precise set of measurements by which an immediate hazard can be gauged. It must be judged on the basis of common sense in the light of existing circumstances. In reference to a similar situation the Supreme Court of Delaware has said that an ‘immediate hazard’ is created when a vehicle approaches an intersection on a favored street at a reasonable speed under such circumstances that, if the disfavored driver proceeds into the intersection it will force the favored driver to sharply and suddenly check his progress or stop in order to avoid collision. Conversely, if the disfavored driver has made his stop and deferred to all vehicles that would be required to go into a sharp or sudden braking to avoid collision, the cars far enough away have a clear margin to observe and make a smooth and safe stop are not an ‘immediate hazard’ and are required to yield to the driver already at the intersection.”



Clearly, the facts presented in the instant case raised issues that could only be resolved by the jury. The facts clearly will support a finding that the appellant's vehicle pulled out of its regular lane of traffic after the respondent had entered the intersection and commenced his turn, and thereafter proceeded at a high rate of speed into the intersection. Further, since there were no skid marks and respondent testified that a vehicle such as appellant's could be skidded, it may be inferred that no effort to brake was made. In *Walker v. Peterson*, 3 Utah 2d 54, 278 P.2d 291 (1954), this Court was faced with a claim similar to that now before the Court. It observed:

“The driver going straight through the intersection does have the right of way. This means that where the circumstances are such that if the two continued their course there would be danger of collision, the left turner must give way. It is recognized that right of way, based on direction of travel, is the best and most easily applied rule as to driver preference at intersections. But in the very nature of things, it cannot be absolute. If it were, in any situation where there was considerable traffic, it would be a practical impossibility to safely make a left turn, no matter how long one waited, nor with what care he proceeded; the driver proceeding directly through would have complete license to commit any kind of negligence and claim the right of way under all circumstances, regardless of speed, lookout, distance away when he observed the left turner, and notwithstanding his own lack of care, always lay the responsibility upon the person making the left turn. It is so plain as to hardly warrant expression that one cannot, consistent with reason and justice, determine beforehand that in every case involving such an intersection collision, the driver making the left turn is solely responsible for the mishap. As in all cases of collision, both drivers are re-



quired to exercise that degree of care which a reasonably prudent person under the circumstances would exercise for his own and others' safety, and where the failure of a party to meet this standard is a contributing cause of the accident, no relief can be had on his behalf. Under the circumstances here, where the defendant was in the intersection substantially ahead of plaintiff in time, and was making the left turn when the plaintiff was far enough away that ordinary reasonable care would require that he not insist upon claiming the right of way, plaintiff cannot race on into the intersection and rely on it to exculpate himself from wrong."

The appellants cite *Cederloff v. Whited*, 110 Utah 45, 169 P.2d 777 (1946) and *French v. Utah Oil Refining Co.*, 117 Utah 406, 216 P.2d 1002 (1950) for the proposition that the respondent was negligent as a matter of law. The facts in both those cases are materially different than those in the instant case. The facts in this case when viewed most favorably to the jury's verdict are substantially at variance with the facts of the above mentioned cases. It is submitted that this case is more within the rule of *Hardman v. Thurman*, 121 Utah 143, 239 P.2d 215 (1951) where the facts closely parallel the claims of the respondent in this case. There, the Court observed that the *French* and *Cederloff* cases were not applicable and stated:

"In the instant case, the jury might reasonably conclude that when the tanker truck stopped in the first lane east of the center of State Street and another motor vehicle stopped in the second lane, Mrs. Hardman was in the exercise of reasonable care in assuming that it was safe to proceed eastwardly. In view of the street plan at the intersection, it might reasonably be found that it was not unreasonable for her to not expect any through

traffic on lane 3 in which defendants' vehicle was proceeding, since there are only two lanes for north bound traffic north of the intersection. She proceeded cautiously, and while she was crossing the first two traffic lanes she might well have been unable to see the defendants' vehicle since it would have been some distance south of the intersection when she first started to turn. Facing headlights of the two vehicles which were stopped to permit her to turn safely to the left she might not have been able to see the top of the trailer-truck 13 feet above the pavement. Under the circumstances, the jury could reasonably find that she exercised due care. The evidence was such as to warrant a finding that she and not the defendants' driver had the right of way.

"The evidence was such as to require submission of the case to the jury, consequently the court did not err in denying the motion for the directed verdict."

It is submitted therefore that there is no basis for the appellants' claim that respondent was contributorily negligent as a matter of law in failing to yield the right of way.

The jury was instructed on the right of way issue, no exceptions were taken by the appellants and the jury determined the facts against the appellants. That verdict should stand.

The appellants contend that the respondent was negligent as a matter of law in failing to keep a proper lookout. The record reflects that the jury was full instructed and advised on that issue. They apparently felt that (1) the respondent maintained an adequate lookout under the circumstances, and/or (2) that any failure to maintain an adequate lookout was not the proximate cause of the accident.

The major basis for the appellants' position is the testimony of the respondent (R. 336-337) to the effect that as he started his turn, and after checking to see everything "was clear," he thereafter "glanced back" in his mirror to check to see if his trailer was clearing the island. When he looked back, the appellant's vehicle was "bearing down." The appellants further contend that the respondent's statement made to the police that he thought he had a green turn light with him supports their contention. The respondent denied making such a statement, and the statement was not in his handwriting. The jury might well believe the respondent's testimony that he did not so state, nor did he misunderstand the semaphore. Therefore, this allegation of the appellants could have been properly disregarded by the jury, and therefore in viewing the facts most favorable to the respondent, the appellants may only rely upon the respondent's testimony.

The facts concerning the accident clearly reveal that the jury was properly allowed to decide the matter. When the respondent was starting his turn the appellant's vehicle was far down the road behind several other cars. The respondent's view of both approaching lanes would show no danger. The respondent merely "glanced backward." This would be a reasonable and prudent action, since if the trailer did not clear the island, the vehicle would be a serious hazard to oncoming traffic. The respondent then looked forward, and appellant's vehicle had moved out of the lane it was in and was speeding forward possibly to make the light. Nothing the respondent could have done would have prevented the accident for the sole and proximate cause was the speed and action of the appellant's vehicle. The respondent had a right to rely upon nonfavored drivers slowing down at the intersection and yielding the right of way. 8 Am. Jur. 2d,

*Automobiles and Highway Traffic*, § 736. Generally, the question of whether a proper lookout was maintained under the circumstances is a jury question. In *Covington v. Carpenter*, 4 Utah 2d 378, 294 P.2d 788 (1956), this Court observed on the lookout question:

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